COPY

Respectfully Submitted, John Hech, Blanks Delle Mayhdw, # 121165 3800 County Rd.540

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

OFFICE OF THE CLERK COURT OF APPEALS

800S S 1 9UA

3311399A

LITED

iggississim to state

'\$\Lambda

WANYAM SIAD YMMIT

HAP1399A

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

IN THE COURT OF APPEAUS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO.2007-CP-01078-COA

Jimmy DALE MAYHAN

Appellant

US.

State of Mississippi

Appellee

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF CASE

During the November Term 2005, the Grand Jury of Desoto County, Mississippi, returned a multi-Count indictment charging Jimmy Dale Mayhan with Four (4) Counts of Fondling of a Child pursuant to Mississippi Code Ann. Section 97-5-23 (1972), being Cause NO. CR-2005-1061-C-(D).

Appellant, Jimmy Dale Mayhan appeared before the Honorabie Robert P. Chamberinin, Circuit Court Judge of the Seventeenth Judicial District, being represented
by the Honorable James D. Franks, Attorney-At-Law and entered a plea to Count
Four of the Multi-Count indictment under the Auspices of North Carolina V.
Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 37-38 (1970).

The trial judge accepted the Alford Plea and adjudicated Jimmy Dale Mayhan guilty of Count Four of the indictment, and pursuant to the plea agreement between the prosecution and defense, did noile prosequi Counts One, Two and three of the indictment.

On May 30th 2006, Jimmy Dale Mayhan appeared in the Circuit Court of Desoto County, Mississippi For sentencing, At that time the Court did sentence Jimmy Dale Mayhan to a Term of Fifteen years, Ten years incarceration with Five years post-release supervision.

ON December 21st 2006, Appellant Jimmy Dale Mayhan File his Motion for Post-Conviction Relief into the Circuit Court of Desoto County, Mississippi. On the 29th day of August, 2007, that Court did day the Post-Conviction Motion. This appeal Stems for that Court's denial of that motion.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING PRE-TRIAL

Attorney Tames D. Franks, (hereinafter known as trial counsel), was privately retained by Appellant Timmy Dale Mayhan, (hereinafter known as Mayhan), to represent him at trial on the charges in Cause NO. CR-2005-1061-C(0), But prior to trial, trial counsel did become lackadaisical in his desire to defend Mayhan in the up-coming trial and did become hostile toward Mayhan.

On the day before the trial was to begin, Mayhan had met with trial counsel to discuss the case. During this discussion, it did became apparent that trial counsel had made no preparation for the up-coming trial. Trial counsel was adament that Mayhan should forego a trial by jury and enter a plea. Mayhan did state to trial counsel that he didn't want to enter a plea, but rather that he wanted to have an opportunity to prove his innocence. Trial counsel would not hear of it, and did state that Mayhan's case could not be won.

At this time, Mayhan did ask trial counsel if he would help him if he did decide to go to trial? Trial counsel would not answer this question, and did only glare at Mayhan. When Mayhan insisted on going to trial, trial counsel did stat that Mayhan would lose and the be sentenced to prison for the rest of his life. It was at this time that Mayhan did cease the discussions with trial counsel.

The Next day, the day that Mayhan's case was scheduled for trial, he again tried to get some assurance from his Attorney that he would help him if he went to trial? But again, trial counsel would not give Mayhan an Answer and did remain silent. Mayhan feeling there was no other Alternative, did agree to enter a plea.

It is clear that trial counsel was not acting as counsel as guaranteed by Article 3, section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution, and the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution. Trial counsel, being retained by Mayhan to defend him against the charges brought against him, should have putforth an effort that would have put the prosecution to its burden of proof concerning these charges. But it would appear, that because of the Nature of the charges, Mayhan's trial counsel had himself did adjudicate his client guilty, and did refuse to represent his client at trial.

It is clear from the plea colloguy, that Mayhan felt that he had No choice but to enter a plea. When the trial court explained to Mayhan the definition of North Carolina v. Alford, 400 LLS. 25 (1970), and did ask Mayhan if this was what he would like to do, Mayhan responded: "No Alternative!" (Tr. 6).

When the trial court tried to explain to Mayhan that he did have an alternative, Mayhan's trial counsel did butt in, and the following exchange did take place:

By Mr. Franks: "Do you feel like you don't have a good Alternative to pleading pursuant to North Carolina us. Alford?"

By the Defendant: "I didn't -- "

By the Court! "You've got to speak up."

By Mr. Franks: "Did you say yes?"

By the Defendant: "YEAH. You told me-yes."

By Mr. Franks: "Is the reason that you're pleading to this under Alford because you feel like this is in your best interest given the options that you've got?"

By the Defendant: "What you stated to me is what I -- the decision I come up with, yeah."

By Mr. Franks: "And you feel like it is your best interest?"

By the Defendant: "From what you've told me."

By Mr. Franks: "From what I've told you, From the information I've given you about what the Evidence is, you feel like this is in your best interest?"

By the Defendant: "YES, Sir."

By Mr. Franks: "This is what you want to do?"

By the Defendant: "Right".

(Tr. 7,8) (Emphasis supplied)

It is clear from this exchange that trial counsel had necessarily brown beaten Mayhan into Accepting this plea and, in doing so, did deny Mayhan

to his Constitutional right to a trial by jury. As it is clear from the plea colloguy that, Mayhan really didn't want to enter into this plea, but rather wanted to go to trial. (See, Tr. 17). It is also Evident in the plea colloguy of the futility that Mayhan was experiencing by his

trial counsel's deficient performance.

Trial counsel had used subtle threats and coercion by stating to Mayhan that he would be sentenced to life in prison if he choose to go to trial. Also, this was compounded with trial counsel's obfuscation in refusing to tell Mayhan whether or not trial counsel would put the prosecution to its test to prove guilt. Which did enervate Mayhan's conscitution to stand trial, and he agreed to enter into the plea. (See Attached Stitution to stand Trial, and Its and Stateched Tri L-13).

Wha it not fer trial counsel's deficient performance, Mayhan would have refused to have entered a plea and would have insisted on going to trial. Mayhan was prejudiced by his trial counsel's deficient performance, as he was denied his right to counsel. This was a violation of his Sixth Amendment right to the united States Constitution right to the Effective Assistance of counsel, and his right to a fair trial, which was also a violation of his comparable rights pursuant to Article 3,

SECTION 26 OF The Mississippi Constitution.

Mayhans plea is unconstitutional because of the denial of effective assistance of counsel, and should be unerated as a matter of law. That assistance of counsel, and should be unerated in a fury trial.

2. MAYHAN'S PLEA WAS NOT GIVEN YOLUNTARILY AND INTELLIGENTLY

Mayhan's trial counsel did misrepresent the lenght of the sentence that he would receive if he choose to go to trial and found guilty. His trial counsel lead him to believe that he would be sentenced to life in prison if found guilty in a jury trial. This misrepresentation did cause him to enter an involuntary plea.

Trial counsel also lead Mayhan to believe that, if he would enter a plea pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970), that he would probably be given probation and a fine. This conclusion along with trial counsel's prediction of a life sentence if he went to trial, caused Mayhan against his better judgment, to enter his plea instead of going to trial.

Pursuant to Rule 8.04(A)(3) of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County

Pursuant to Rule 8.04(A)(3) of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice, states that "[A] plea of guilty is not voluntary if induced by fear, violence, deception, or improper inducements." (Emphasis Supplied). In the case subjudice, it cannot be said that Mayhan's plea was voluntarily given, as, it was the product of fear, deception, and improper inducements by his trial counsel. So that, Mayhan was not fully aware of the implications of his plea, nor of the true consequences of a trial by a jury.

Also trial counsel did coach Mayhan to Not Speak of any pomises of leniency to the trial court. But rather trial counsel to Mayhan to State to the court that No promises had been made, that is, other than what had already been agreed upon.

Mayhan did not feel this advice by trial counsel was not in his best interest, did concede to trial counsel's counseling on this, as he had had no other dealings with the criminal justice system and had to rely on his trial counsel's advice.

Because of these misrepresentations of trial counsel in the tendering of Mayhan's plea, it cannot be said that he did enter his plea voluntarily and intelligently. Trial counsel's deficient performance and the resulting prejudice has caused Mayhan to be denied his Due Process rights in the plea process.

3. TRIAL COURT DID ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY ENTERING A PLEA OF GUILTY IN MAYHAN'S CASE

The trial court should not have accepted Mayhan's plea pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25(1970). The trial court did abuse its discretion in entering a plea of guilty, as it was apparent that Mayhan did not want to enter this plea.

Also pursuant to Alford, supra, the trial court failed to make the preregulsite factual basis for the plea. The record does not reflect that the
trial court have Mayhan to give even a similitude of a factual basis for
the plea.

Mayhan did strate that he did want to go to trial and prove his innocence. (Tr. 6). Also, during the plea hearing itself, Mayhan was reluctant to enter the plea. (Tr. 11). So that, the trial court in its discretion should have refused

to Accept the plea, and took the case to trial. But the trial court did ignore the obvious, and did enter a plea of guilty without a factual basis to do so.

It was an abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court when that court did enter a plea of guilty under the auspices of North. Carolina v. Alford, 400 u.s. 25(1970). Mayhan asserts that because of this abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court, that, his plea should be vacated and that he be allowed to return back to the position he was in before he did enter his plea.

4. CIRCUIT COURT OF DESOTO COUNTY ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN THE SUMMARY DISMISSAL OF MAYHAN'S POST-CONVICTION MOTION

Mayhan asserts that the Post-Conviction Court abused its discretion in the summary dismissal of his post-conviction motion without an evidentiary hearing pursuant to Mississippi Code Ann. Section 99-39-19 (Rev. 2000). This was so, even if Mayhan's post-conviction attorney failed to include the proposed affidavits of the people who were willing to testify to Mayhan's trial counsel's ineffective Assistance.

Mayhan had included in his post-conviction motion the names of the people who would have testified to the facts surrounding trial counsel's misrepresentation of the sentence Mayhan would receive if he choose to go to trial. Also these people would have been willing to testify to the fact that trial counsel told Mayhan he would only receive probation and a fine if he would

ENTER the so-called Alford Plea.

Mayhan had sworn to and notarized affidavits from these witnesses, but for reasons unbeknowing to Mayhan the post-conviction attorney failed to submit these affidavits along with the post-conviction motion.

But regardless of the post-conviction Attorney's Failure to submit the supporting affidavits, the post-conviction court should have held AN evidentiary hearing on Mayhan's post-conviction motion. As the purpose of an evidentiary hearing on a petition for post-conviction relief is for the court to recieve evidence in order to make findings of fact. With the names of the people that were willing to testify to the allegations contained in Mayhan's post-conviction motion, it was an abuse of discretion for that court to fail to hold an evidentiary hearing.

Mayhan was entitled to an in-court opportunity to prove his claims, as the claims were procedurally alive, and he did make a substantial showing of a denial of a state and federal right. As the issue of the ineffective assistance of counsel was whether the evidence established that Mayhan had relied upon the exconeous information supplied by his trial counsel to him in entering his plea. So Mayhan was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on this claim.

Trial counsel had misrepresented the length of the sentence that he was facing if he choose to go to trial. Because trial counsel did mislead Mayhan on this point, Mayhan's plea could not be considered voluntarily

And intelligently given. So that, if Mayhan had been correctly informed, he would have not entered his plea an evidentiary hearing was required to resolve this issue.

Mayhan's motion provided evidentiary facts and conclusory allegations in sworn form that his trial counsel had promised Mayhan that he would probably receive probation and a fine if he would enter the so-called Alford Plea. Mayhan had offered the names of the people who would have been willing to testify to this fact. So that his motion was sufficient on its face to be entitled to an evidentiary hearing.

In the post-conviction court's denial, that court stated that Mayhan's post-conviction afforms had been confacted concerning the proposed affidavits, but had failed to include them in Mayhan's post-conviction motion. But it was an abuse of discretion on the part of that court to summarily dismiss the Motion on these grounds. Court's Opinion p. 3). Thus, a motion for post-conviction relief is not properly denied based solely on the fact that there are no supporting affidavits.

Mayhan understands that he has no Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel on collateral review. So, he does not attempt to burden this Court with that issue. But rather out of the sense of fundamental fairness, asks that this Court to review the Affidavits that were excluded by counsel in his post-conviction motion. Said Affidavits are included in the excerts at the close of this Brief.

Mayhan asserts that for the foregoing reasons, that the post-Conviction court abused its discretion in failing to hold an Evidentiary heaving and in its summary dismissal of Mayhan's post-conviction motion.

ARGUMENT

I, INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING PRE-TRIAL

The claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is judged by the standard in Strickland v. Washington, 466 u.s. 668 (1984). The two inquiries which must be made under that standard are "(1) whether counsel's performance was deficient, and, if so, (2) whether the deficient performance was prejudicial to the defendant in the sense that confidence in the correctness of the cutcome is undermined." Neal v. State, 525 So. 2d 1279, 1281 (Miss. 1987). This standard applies to the entry of a guilty plea. See, Schmitt v. State, 560 So. 2d 148, 154 (Miss. 1990).

In Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985), the United States Supreme Court said that "where, as here, a defendant is represented by counsel during the plea process and enters his plea upon the advice of counsel, the voluntariness of the plea depends on whether counsel's advice was within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." Hill, 474 U.S. At 56 (quoting Melhann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 (1970)).

Mayhan asserts that by the above standard he was denied the effective assistance of counsel prior to entering his plea pursuant to North Carolina U. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970). The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that

Where A defendant pleaded guilty under the mistaken Advice of counsel, this would amount to the ineffective Assistance of counsel, see, wilson v. 5tate, 577 50,2d 394 (Miss. 1991).

Mayhan didn't want to plead guilty or otherwise to something that he was innocent of. But because of his trial counser's ineffectiveness, he felt that he did not have a choice in this matter. It was apparent from the plea transcript that Mayhan was reluctent to plead, and that there were factors outside of his guilt that lead him to enter his plea. Mayhan's claims demonstrate prejudice by the very fact that "but for his attorney's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted upon going to trial," Nelson w. Hargett, 989 F.2d 847 (5th Cir. 1993); Hubbard v. State, 628 So.2d 1386 (Miss. 1993).

Trial counsel's failure in Not putting Forth any efforting in defending Mayhan when he would not give Mayhan any guarantee that he would put the prosecution to its burden of proof should Mayhan decide to go to trial. This did Frustrate Mayhan's right to a trial pursuant to the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 3; Section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution. See, Via v. Superintendent, Powhatan Correctional Ctr., 643 Field 167 (4th Cir. 1981) (right to plead not guilty and go to trial, prejudiced when this right was frustrated because counse) was unprepared to represent client effectively. Id. At 170).

AN Evidentiary hearing is required for the determination of whether Mayhan has met this two-prong test, and whether his plea and sentence

Should be vacated and he be allowed a New trial. See, Myers U. State, 583
So. 20 174 (Miss. 1991).

A. MAYHAN'S PLEA WAS NOT GIVEN UOLUNTARILY AND INTELLIGENTLY

where A defendant's plea of guilty is coerced or otherwise involuntary, any judgment of conviction entered thereon is subject to collateral attack. See, Boykin u. Alabama, 395 u.s. 238 (1969). The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that to be enforceable, a guilty plea must emanate from the Accused's informed consent. See, Vittitoe u. State, 556 Soi2d 1062 (Missi 1990).

In the case sub judice, Mayhan's trial Counsel did misrepresent the length of the sentence he was facing if he was convicted in a jury trial. The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that where a defendant has received inaccurate or erroneous information regarding their decision to plead guilty the plea is not given voluntarily or intelligently. See, Alexander v. State, 605 50,2d 1170 (Miss. 1992); Washington v. State, 620 So.2d 966 (Miss. 1993).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has reasoned that such a plea was subject to collateral attack because it would indicate that the defendant was not fully aware of the implications of his plea Nor of the true consequences of a trial by jury. See, Baker u. State, 358 So. 2d 401, 403 (Miss. 1978); Coleman u. State, 483 So. 2d 680, 684 (Miss. 1986).

It has been held that counsel was ineffective, and plea was thus involuntary, when reasonable probability existed that but for counsel's unprofessional error in grossly misrepresenting a defendant's sentence defendant would not have accepted plea if he was correctly informed. Tollett v. Henderson, 411 u.s. 258 (1973); united states v. Gordon, 156 F.3d 376, 380-81 (2nd Cir. 1998).

Mayhan's trial counsel had threaten him with a prison sentence of life if he choose to go to trial by jury. This misrepresentation of the sentence that he would receive if found guilty in a jury trial, weighed heavily on Mayhan's decision to enter his plea. So that it cannot be said that he had entered his plea voluntarily and intelligently.

Mayhan's trial counsel did further improperly induce Mayhan by stating that if he would enter a plea, that the trial court would probably sentence him to probation and a fine. There was no hope for probation for the type of crime that Mayhan had been charged with. For this reason, it cannot be said that Mayhan's plea was given voluntarily and intelligently with an understanding of the true consequences of his plea.

Mayhan was improperly induced to enter into the plea, and it was not a voluntary act on his part. The Mississippi Court of Appeals held in Bronson u. State, 786 Soized 1083 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) that "Where the defendant was literally misinformed and misled, ... the defendant's plea to have been involuntary." Id. at 1088,

3. TRIAL COURT DID ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ENTERING A PLEA OF GUILTY IN MAYHAN'S CASE

The trial court pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 u.s. 25(1970), did Not have a factual basis to enter a plea of guilty in
Mayhan's case. The plea transcript plainly shows that Mayhan did
Not give the trial court a factual basis to accept his plea and
adjudicate Mayhan guilty.

When A defendant enters what has become known as an Alford Plea, there must be given evidence by the prosecution that would give the court a factual basis to enter a guilty verdict against the defendant. The trial court failed to ascertain the required factual basis.

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