JIMMY DALE MAYHAN

FILED

APPELLANT

SEP 1 2 2008

VS.

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS NO. 2007-CP-1078-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

Mayhan now argues in a post-conviction environment his lawyer was ineffective because the advice given was not within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.

We disagree.

On April 26, 2006, Jimmy Dale Mayhan, proclaiming his innocence in the wake of a four (4) count indictment charging him with fondling four (4) different children under the age of sixteen (16) years (C.P. at 58-59), entered an open **Alford** plea to count 4. (R. 3-29)

Pursuant to a plea-bargain agreement instigated by Mayhan's lawyer (R. 11, 18-19), the three additional counts in the indictment were not prosecuted and presumably dismissed and/or passed to the files. (R. 82) As part of the *quid pro quo*, the State agreed "... to remand the other three counts

of the indictment and to agree on a maximum sentence of 10 years to serve as the recommendation of the State with the Defendant being allowed to argue for something less . . ." (R. 18)

After accepting Mayhan's pleas during the plea-qualification hearing conducted on April 26, 2006, the court deferred sentencing until a later date. On May 30, 2006, after hearing facts in extenuation and mitigation of sentence, the court sentenced Mayhan to serve fifteen (15) years in the custody of the MDOC with ten (10) years to serve and five (5) years of PRS. (R. 82) "The Court will also order Counts 1, 2, and 3 remanded by agreement of the parties." (R. 18-19, 82)

Unhappy over this state of affairs Mayhan, eight (8) months following his plea of guilty, filed for post-conviction relief. In this appeal from denial of post-conviction relief, Mayhan claims his lawyer was ineffective and his plea involuntary.

Mayhan also argues his plea was devoid of a factual basis.

JIMMY DALE MAYHAN appeals from the summary denial of his motion for post-conviction collateral relief - essentially a motion to vacate his guilty plea and the sentence imposed in its wake - filed in the Circuit Court of DeSoto County, Andrew C. Baker, Circuit Judge, presiding, substituting for Robert P. Chamberlin who recused himself after taking Mayhan's guilty plea and later imposing sentence. (C.P. at 23-24)

Mayhan, who swore, under the trustworthiness of the official oath, he was satisfied with the services rendered by his lawyer and that his lawyer had been available to Mayhan (R. 20), has changed his mind. (Brief of Appellant at 12-14)

In a five (5) page opinion and order entered by Judge Baker, the court found that Mayhan's post-conviction claims were plainly or manifestly without merit. See appellee's exhibit A, attached.

Judge Baker summarily denied Mayhan's motion for post-conviction collateral relief, finding as a fact and concluding as a matter of law that Mayhan had failed to prove ineffective assistance of

counsel based upon the requirements of **Strickland v. Washington** [citation omitted] and further that Mayhan's allegations were belied by the plea dialogue. (C.P. at 25)

Judge Baker found as a fact that Mayhan was given several opportunities by the trial judge to go to trial if he did not desire to enter a guilty plea and that Judge Chamberlin did not err in accepting Mayhan's plea pursuant to **North Carolina v. Alford** [citation omitted].

Judge Baker also found an evidentiary hearing was not required because it appeared beyond doubt that Mayhan could prove no set of facts in support of a claim entitling him to relief. "The Court concludes that it appears beyond doubt that Mayhan can prove no set of facts in support of his claims which would entitle him to relief." (C.P. at 27)

We respectfully submit Judge Baker did not err one whit in finding Mayhan's claims to be manifestly or plainly without merit.

The trial court's fact-finding is neither "clearly erroneous" nor "manifestly wrong"; rather, it is supported by substantial credible evidence found in the record. Hersick v. State, 904 So.2d 116, 125 (Miss. 2004); Brown v. State, 731 So.2d 595, 598 (Miss. 1999); Hunt v. State, 874 So.2d 448, 452 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the time of his guilty plea to a single count of fondling, Jimmy Dale Mayhan was a 55-year-old Caucasian male and former truck driver. He had a 6th grade education and could both read and write. (C.P. at 7-8)

On November 4, 2005, Mayhan, in a multi-count indictment, was charged with four (4) counts of fondling, each individual count involving a different child under sixteen (16) years of age. (C.P. at 58-59)

After investigating and reviewing the facts of the case (R. 14, 20-21), James D. Franks,

Mayhan's lawyer, informed Mayhan, who proclaimed his innocence, Mayhan's case was not winnable and apparently advised him to plea guilty in his best interest. (R. 20-21)

A bargain was struck with the district attorney whereby the State, in exchange for Mayhan's open plea of guilty to a single count of fondling, would dismiss the other three charges and recommend to the judge that Mayhan be sentenced to serve ten (10) years with the defendant being allowed to argue to the court for something less than that.

On April 26, 2006, Mayhan, proclaiming his innocence, entered a technically open and best interest plea (R. 19) under the auspices of **North Carolina v. Alford** [citation omitted] to count 4 of the indictment charging him with fondling Syndie Smith, the female child of Byrn Mayhan who was married to the son of the defendant's wife, Kim Mayhan. The child was the product of a previous marriage. (R. 12. 56)

As part of the prosecutor's recommendation, Counts 1, 2, and 3 were not prosecuted, and the prosecutor recommended imprisonment for ten (10) years. (R. 18-19) Sentencing was deferred until May 30, 2006. (R, 23, 30, 55-81)

Shortly thereafter, Mayhan hired new counsel who filed a motion to set aside the plea on various and sundry grounds. A hearing was conducted on May 30, 2006, in Judge Chamberlin's court at which time Mayhan testified he had wanted to go to trial to show his innocence but his lawyer told him he could not win the case. (R. 37)

Judge Chanberlin denied the motion to set aside, and after hearing testimony in extenuation and mitigation of sentence, sentenced Mayhan to serve ten (10) years in the custody of the MDOC followed by five (5) years of PRS. (R. 81-82; C.P. at 61-62)

A petition to enter plea of guilty was read and signed by Mayhan but is not a part and parcel of the official record on appeal. (R. 6-8)

A transcript of the plea-qualification hearing conducted on April 26, 2006, is a matter of record at R. 3-29.

A copy of the transcript generated pursuant to Mayhan's motion to withdraw his plea after substituting counsel, as well as a transcript of the sentencing proceeding that immediately followed, is found at R. 30-85.

In denying post-conviction relief, Judge Baker gave great weight to statements and acknowledgments made by Mayhan, under the trustworthiness of the official oath, including Mayhan's assertions he was satisfied with the representation of his lawyer, there had been no threats, coercion, or promises, and upon the advice of his lawyer he was asking the court to accept his guilty plea. (R. 19-20)

Less than a year after stating in open court he was satisfied with his lawyer and he was asking the court to accept his "best interest" plea of guilty, Mayhan, on December 21, 2006, filed his motion for post-conviction relief claiming his plea was involuntary and his lawyer, James D. Franks, ineffective.

There were no supporting affidavits attached to the motion as claimed in Mayhan's post-conviction papers at C.P. 9.

Mayhan argued in his motion his **Alford** plea was involuntary and his lawyer ineffective. According to Mayhan, Mr. Franks improperly induced him into pleading guilty by informing him there was a 90% chance he would lose if he went to trial and by putting forth little or no effort to defend Mayhan from the charges.

Mayhan also claimed Mr. Franks gave him erroneous advice concerning the duration of the sentence he was facing for the crimes charged and that the trial judge did not have a factual basis for his plea of guilty under **Alford**.

The specific relief requested by Mayhan was vacation of his conviction and sentence but, if not, at least a remand for an evidentiary hearing.

In his appeal to this Court, Mayhan reasserts these claims.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A plea of guilty is binding only if it is entered voluntarily and intelligently. Myers v. State, 583 So.2d 174, 177 (Miss. 1991). A plea of guilty is voluntary and intelligent when the defendant is informed of the charges against him and the consequences of his guilty plea. Alexander v. State, 605 So.2d 1170, 1172 (Miss. 1992).

He was.

Mayhan was more than adequately advised by the trial judge of the rights he was waiving or giving up by pleading guilty as well as the minimum and maximum sentence. (R. 17-18)

Mayhan told Judge Chamberlin he was satisfied with the services rendered by Mr. Franks and there had been no promises, threats, force or coercion to get him to plead guilty. (R. 20) Mayhan told Judge Chamberlin that he "... just decided that [Alford] would be the best way to go." (R. 20)

Thus, there are material contradictions between what Mayhan swore to then and there, *viz.*, satisfaction with his lawyer and a voluntary *Alford* plea, and what he claims here and now, *viz.*, dissatisfaction with his lawyer and an improperly induced plea. *See* **Majors v. State**, 946 So.2d 369, 375 (¶17) (Ct.App.Miss. 2006), where the defendant's ineffective assistance of counsel claim was belied by the record in that Majors told the court he was completely satisfied with the services his attorney had rendered him.

When a defendant's claims on a motion to withdraw guilty plea are in contradiction with the guilty plea record, the trial judge, as Judge Baker obviously did here, is entitled to rely heavily on

the record of the proceedings. **Bilbo v. State**, 881 So.2d 966 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004); **Richardson v. State**, 769 So.2d 230 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000). *Cf.* **Taylor v. State**, 682 So.2d 359, 364 (Miss. 1996); **Sherrod v. State**, 784 So.2d 256 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001).

Mayhan's plea was both knowing and voluntary, and Judge Chamberlin correctly advised Mayhan of the minimum and maximum sentence for the crime charged, *viz.*, 15 years in prison and a \$5,000 fine versus a mandatory minimum of 2 years with a \$1,000 fine. (R. 17-18)

Assuming, as Mayhan claims, Mr. Franks told Mayhan he would be facing a life sentence if convicted of the charges, this information was not erroneous. Mayhan, at the time of his plea, was 55 years old. (R. 7-8) 15 years per count X 4 individual counts = 60 years. Needless to say, in Mayhan's case this is the equivalent of a life sentence.

Mayhan was not denied the effective assistance of counsel during his *Alford* plea because counsel's performance, contrary to Mayhan's motion, was neither deficient nor did any deficiency prejudice Mayhan. In ruling on this issue Judge Baker applied the correct legal standard. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Williams v. State, 819 So.2d 532 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001); Reynolds v. State, 736 So.2d 500 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999).

Mayhan has failed to demonstrate that but for counsel's alleged sins of omission or commission, he would not have entered his *Alford* plea of guilty or else the jury would have found him innocent had he gone to trial, i.e., the result would have been different.

Mayhan's plea was not unlawfully induced by counsel's advice as to the realities of the situation. Fear of a harsher sentence does not render a plea involuntary. **Robinson v. State,** 964 So.2d 609, 612 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) "Counsel has a duty to fairly, even if that means pessimistically,

inform the client of the likely outcome of a trial based upon the facts of the case.;" Robinson v. State, supra, 964 So.2d 609, 612 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007). See also Daugherty v. State, 847 So.2d 609, 613 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007).

Mr. Franks told Judge Chamberlin during the plea-qualification hearing that he and Mayhan "... have met [and] [w]e have talked [and] [w]e have reviewed all of the evidence." (R. 14)

Mayhan was well aware his plea was an open *Alford* plea and that his sentence was basically up to the judge. (R. 19) Contrary to his claims suggesting otherwise, Mayhan has failed to establish by a "preponderance of the evidence" he was entitled to any relief. Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-23(7); **McClendon v. State,** 539 So.2d 1375 (Miss. 1989); **Todd v. State,** 873 So.2d 1040 (Ct.App. Miss. 2004).

Finally, the record reflects a factual basis for the *Alford* plea which both the assistant district attorney and Judge Chanberlin addressed in some detail. (R. 11-14) Moreover, counsel for the defendant, while continuing to deny the incidents took place, acknowledged, if not asserted, "... that the State has enough evidence to present this to a jury." (R. 13) This admission has got to stand for something.

ARGUMENT

THE RECORD, CONSTRUED IN A LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO MAYHAN, REFLECTS MAYHAN ENTERED A VOLUNTARY PLEA OF GUILTY UNDER ALFORD TO ONE COUNT OF FONDLING.

MAYHAN'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE COUNSEL IS MATERIALLY CONTRADICTED BY THE GUILTY PLEA RECORD. MAYHAN HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT AND THAT THE DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE PREJUDICED HIS DEFENSE.

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS JUDICIAL DISCRETSION IN FINDING AS A FACT AND CONCLUDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THERE WAS AN ADEQUATE FACTUAL BASIS FOR MAYHAN'S PLEA OF GUILTY IN HIS BEST INTEREST.

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS JUDICIAL DISCRETION IN SUMMARILY DISMISSING MAYHAN'S MOTION TO VACATE HIS PLEA, CONVICTION AND SENTENCE.

THE FACT-FINDING MADE BY THE CIRCUIT JUDGE FOLLOWING A METICULOUS REVIEW OF MAYHAN'S MOTION TO VACATE, TOGETHER WITH ALL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS, WAS NEITHER CLEARLY ERRONEOUS NOR MANIFESTLY WRONG. SUMMARY DISMISSAL WAS BOTH EXPEDIENT AND PROPER.

At the outset we point out that appellant has attached to his brief affidavits and letters of recommendation that are not found in the official record. (Brief of Appellant at 59-65) In

particular we point to the affidavits of Kelly Mayhan, Leonard Janiszewski, and Nancy Janiszewski which were never seen by Judge Baker. In note 1 of his opinion and order denying post-conviction relief and again on page 3 (C.P. at 24-25), Judge Baker observed that the absence of the promised affidavits was conspicuous. (C.P. at 23-24; appellee's exhibit A, attached)

Regrettably, these papers, cannot be considered in addressing the issues presented.

We are told in **Saucier v. State**, 328 So.2d 355, 357 (Miss. 1976), that the Supreme Court can act "... only on the basis of the contents of the official record, as filed after approved by counsel for both parties. It may not act upon statements in briefs or arguments of counsel which are not reflected by the record."

The case of **Wortham v. State**, 219 So.2d 923, 926-27 (1969), is particularly applicable. In **Wortham** an affidavit contained in appellant's brief could not be considered on appeal. This court opined:

* * * * * Appellant attempts to raise this question by including in the brief filed by his counsel a photostatic copy of an affidavit alleged to have been filed in the justice of the peace court. We have always adhered to the rule that we will not consider anything on appeal except what is in the record made in the trial court. We will not go outside the record to find facts and will not consider a statement of facts attempted to be supplied by counsel in briefs. The rule is so well settled that it is unnecessary to cite authority to support it, but in spite of this we still get many cases where counsel seek to have us notice facts not in the record. This amounts to an exercise in futility and is a waste of time and effort. It should not be done. [emphasis supplied]

As stated in Mason v. State, 440 So.2d 318, 319 (Miss. 1983), this Court "... must decide each case by the facts shown in the record, not assertions in the brief, however sincere

counsel may be in those assertions. Facts asserted to exist must and ought to be definitely proved and placed before [this Court] by a record, certified by law; otherwise, we cannot know them."

In Genry v. State, 735 So.2d 186, 200 (Miss. 1999), this Court opined:

* * * * * * The burden is on the defendant to make a proper record of the proceedings. Jackson v. State, 689 So.2d 760, 764 (Miss. 1997); Russell v. State, 670 So.2d 816, 822 n. 1 (Miss. 1995); Lambert v. State, 574 So.2d 573, 577 (Miss. 1990). This court "cannot decide an issue based on assertions in the brief alone; rather, issues must be proven by the record." Medina v. State, 688 So.2d 727, 732 (Miss. 1996); Robinson v. State, 662 So.2d 1100, 1104 (Miss. 1995). Accordingly, the matter is not properly before this Court. This assignment of error is without merit.

"We repeat . . . that on direct appeal we are confined to the record before us [and] that record gives us no basis for reversal." **Watson v. State**, 483 So.2d 1326, 1330 (Miss. 1986).

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